

# National Standards for Antenatal Education in Ireland

# **Contents**

Foreword	1
Acknowledgements	2
Introduction	3
Context & background	4
Policy context	4
Components of a high quality antenatal education service	5
Who is antenatal education for?	6
Optimal content of antenatal education programmes	7
Mode of delivery of antenatal education	7
Training and resources for antenatal education	7
Optimal class size	8
Pregnant women and their partners who have additional educational needs	9
Perinatal mental health care	10
Conclusion	10
Vision for a safe, high quality antenatal education service for Ireland	11
Antenatal education services in Ireland: a national statement of purpose	11
Aim and objectives of the Standards for Antenatal Education in Ireland	11
Scope of the Standards for Antenatal Education	12
Process of developing the Standards	12
Implementation of the Standards for Antenatal Education	12
Structure of the Standards	13
Standards for Antenatal Education in Ireland	14
Summary of Standards for Antenatal Education	14
Theme 1: Person-centred Care and Support	16
Theme 2: Effective Care and Support	21
Theme 3: Safe Care and Support	22
Theme 4: Better Health and Wellbeing	23
Theme 5: Leadership, Governance and Management	24
Theme 6: Workforce	26
Theme 7: Use of Resources	27
Theme 8: Use of Information	28
References	30
Appendix: Information on the structure of the Standards	37

# **Foreword**

On behalf of the Women and Infants Health Programme, I am pleased to introduce these 'National Standards for Antenatal Education'. We know that the early years lay the foundation for future health and that preparation for parenthood during the antenatal period presents a valuable opportunity to support parents in this journey. The impetus for these Standards came from a number of sources, beginning with consultation carried out with parents and practitioners as part of the early planning for the scope and content of the Nurture Programme - Infant Health and Wellbeing. This is a four year integrated programme of work designed to improve child health information and supports from pregnancy to the child's 3rd birthday. The National Maternity Strategy 2016 subsequently identified the need for improvements in antenatal education in Ireland. This need was endorsed in consultation carried out in development of HIQA's National Standards for Safer Better Maternity Services 2016. Further support for this work came from Directors of Midwifery, Directors of Public Health Nursing and practitioners in antenatal education who recognised the importance of the early information and supports provided to expectant women and their partners.

The development of these Standards has involved extensive consultation, evidence review and consideration of current approaches to delivery of antenatal education in both an Irish and international context. I would like to thank the members of the Nurture Programme – Antenatal to Postnatal Implementation Team who led the development of these Standards as part of a wider initiative to improve antenatal information, specifically the My Pregnancy book and antenatal information on the mychild.ie website. I would also like to thank all of the practitioners who contributed to this work and will continue to support its implementation under the leadership of the Women and Infants Health Programme. Finally, I would like to acknowledge the generous funding from The Atlantic Philanthropies which has supported this work through the Nurture Programme as part of the range of initiatives undertaken to improve outcomes for children in Ireland.

Congola Dune.

**Angela Dunne,**National Lead Midwife
National Women and Infant Health Programme

# **Acknowledgements**

The HSE would like to thank everyone who contributed to the development of these Standards. In particular, the HSE would like to acknowledge:

- Members of the Nurture Programme Antenatal to Postnatal Implementation Team, who led on the development of the Standards. A list of the members of the Team is provided below.
- The Office of the Nursing and Midwifery Services Director (ONMSD)
- The National Women and Infants Health Programme
- Dr Sarah O'Brien, who conducted the literature review included in this document on behalf of the Nurture Programme Antenatal to Postnatal Implementation Team
- The many parents, health professionals, and voluntary organisations who informed the development of the Standards through consultation and stakeholder engagement
- Key stakeholders and experts who reviewed drafts of the Standards
- The funding and support of the Nurture Programme: Infant Health and Wellbeing.

### Membership of the Nurture Programme Antenatal to Postnatal Implementation Team

0	h	2	i	r

Dr Caroline Mason Mohan Director of Public Health, National Screening Service, HSE

**Members** 

Dr Carly Cheevers Data and Information Specialist, Centre for Effective Services,

Research & Data Analyst, The Nurture Programme - Infant Health and Wellbeing HS

(from November 2018)

Ms Ina Crowley Project Officer for Public Health Nursing Services, Office of Nursing & Midwifery Se

Director, Clinical Strategy and Programmes Division HSE

Ms Geraldine Duffy Assistant Director of Midwifery, National Maternity Hospital, Holles Street

Sarah Hensey Project Support, Nurture Programme - Infant Health and Wellbeing Brenda McCormack Project Support, Nurture Programme - Infant Health and Wellbeing Dr Fiona McGuire Senior Medical Officer, Department Public Health, HSE, Midlands

Dr Sarah O' Brien Specialist Registrar, Public Health Medicine, HSE Ms Rebecca O'Donovan Assistant National Breastfeeding Co-ordinator, HSE

Dr Maria O'Dwyer Programme Manager, Start Right Programme (ABC), Limerick Ms Moira O'Reilly Implementation Specialist, Centre for Effective Services

Ms Anne Pardy HSE Programme Lead, The Nurture Programme - Infant Health & Wellbeing

Dr Aisling Sheehan Implementation Specialist, Centre for Effective Services

Ms Sheila Sugrue National Lead Midwife, Office of Nursing & Midwifery Services Director, Clinical Strategy

and Programmes Division HSE

Ms Cathy O'Sullivan Interim Director, Centre Of Midwifery Education, Cork University Maternity Hospital

Ms Eilish Whelan Assistant Director of Public Health Nursing, Wexford

Ms Catherine Whitty Project Officer for Public Health Nursing Services, Office of Nursing & Midwifery

Services Director, Clinical Strategy and Programmes Division HSE

# Introduction

Antenatal education aims to equip pregnant women and their partners with the knowledge and skills to negotiate their journey through pregnancy and to prepare them for childbirth and parenthood (1). Comprehensive antenatal education programmes with an explicit parent-led focus are recommended. While efforts to standardise antenatal education have been made in the UK, there remains a lack of uniformity in the provision of such education in Ireland (2–4).

The National Standards for Antenatal Education aim to enhance the current provision of antenatal education services in Ireland through the identification of key components that should be included in all antenatal education programmes, as well as ensuring the delivery of consistent messages to pregnant women and their partners. These Standards are based on HIQA's framework National Standards for Safer Better Healthcare and draw on eight themes that focus on providing a high quality, safe and accountable service that is evidence-informed, resource-efficient and provided by a workforce with the necessary education, skills and competencies (5).

# Context and background

The valuable contribution that early childhood health makes to lifelong health and wellbeing is becoming increasingly recognised (6). Early childhood policies and programmes can potentially play important roles in laying the foundations for good health and wellbeing, the benefits of which may be reaped throughout the life course (6–8).

The aim of antenatal education is to support improvements in the health and wellbeing of babies, pregnant women and their partners throughout the antenatal and postnatal periods (3). Antenatal education has a range of objectives including: to identify and meet the learning needs of pregnant women and their partners in preparing them for birth and early parenthood; to build a woman's confidence to give birth; to promote breastfeeding; to facilitate the building of social networks; to influence health behaviours; to promote and protect physiological birth; and to contribute to a reduction in perinatal morbidity and mortality (1,4,9,10). The literature in support of antenatal education classes is varied and is somewhat limited due to difficulties in designing robust interventional studies (9,11). Anecdotally, the widespread appetite for antenatal education programmes is evident and parent-led antenatal education programmes remain central in preparing parents for birth and parenthood (4,9,11-14).

# Policy context

At present there is a lack of uniformity in the education and training of antenatal education providers, in the antenatal education curricula offered, in the supporting information provided to pregnant women and their partners and in the format and delivery of antenatal education in Ireland (4). The National Maternity Strategy 2016-2026 identified the need for a standardised programme of antenatal education in Ireland and this need was seconded by HIQA's National Standards for Safer Better Maternity Services (14,15). These calls for standardised antenatal education occur against the backdrop of the Irish national framework for health and wellbeing, Healthy Ireland (16). Healthy Ireland aims to improve the health and wellbeing of the Irish population

through cross-sectoral collaboration, empowering people and communities, and a universally accessible health service that emphasises preventative healthcare (16). It recommends that these measures be underpinned by legislation that addresses the broader determinants of health and be supported by robust evidence and systematic monitoring and evaluation of outcomes to ensure the judicious use of resources (16). Making Every Contact Count has been rolled out as part of the Healthy Ireland implementation plan (17). Making Every Contact Count is aimed at enabling all healthcare professionals to empower their patients to make healthier lifestyle choices during each encounter with the healthcare service, and is in line with the National Maternity Strategy 2016-2026 (17). The National Maternity Strategy supports a health and wellbeing approach with the aim of empowering pregnant women and their partners to improve their own health and wellbeing and that of their children (14). It highlights the importance of providing interactive and participative antenatal education in small groups within the community setting and recognises that particular subsections of the population may need targeted antenatal education e.g. pregnant teenagers, pregnant women with disabilities, women who have had a previous caesarean birth and pregnant women and their partners from disadvantaged areas (14).

The importance of early childhood intervention for lifelong physical and mental health is emphasised in the Faculty of Public Health Medicine's paper, 'The impact of early childhood on future health', as well as Ireland's national policy framework for children and young people 'Better Outcomes Brighter Futures' and in the National Healthy Childhood Programme (18–20). The need to prioritise the time period spanning from the antenatal period to two years of age is acknowledged within all of these documents (18,19). The Nurture Programme - Infant Health and Wellbeing, as part of the National Healthy Childhood Programme, aims to support parents and healthcare professionals in giving children the best start in life (21). The need for universal access to high quality antenatal education is therefore firmly on the health policy agenda.

A national approach to antenatal education is now required in order to deliver on key policy recommendations, to meet the learning needs of pregnant women and their partners and to improve population health through working towards reducing health inequalities and giving all children growing up in Ireland the best start in life.

# Components of a high quality antenatal education service

The content and mode of delivery of antenatal education has changed dramatically over time with these changes often based on subjective opinions and economic considerations, as opposed to evidence from high quality interventional trials (22). The evidence base supporting optimal content and format of antenatal education remains limited due to an over-reliance on observational studies and the notable challenges in conducting interventional trials and thus, the recommendations for some aspects of antenatal education remain uncertain (9,11). However, as more findings from large prospective longitudinal cohort studies are published, the cloud of uncertainty over the evidence base will diminish over time. The value of the lived experience of both service users and service providers comes to the fore here and accounts of their experience have been used in partnership with the evidence base in the writing of these Standards.



# Who is antenatal education for?

In keeping with the Healthy Ireland goal of reducing health inequalities, antenatal education services in Ireland should be universally available to all pregnant women and their partners (16). While much of the quantitative evidence regarding the impact of antenatal education on pregnancy-related outcomes remains inconclusive, the qualitative evidence presents antenatal education as an opportunity to learn about pregnancy and the transition to parenthood in a group forum, to build social networks and to develop skills which can ultimately act as protective factors against health inequalities going forward (3,23). However, Irish evidence indicates that attendance of potentially vulnerable women, such as those from socially disadvantaged backgrounds, is poor and that more could be done to make the maternity services in Ireland more accessible (24-26). These findings are reflected in the international literature (27,28). Universal antenatal education should be presented in a way that makes it accessible to all pregnant women and their partners (3). Marmot posits that a universal service should provide a gradient of support for populations with varying needs (8).

Non-attendance of partners at antenatal education classes can act as a barrier to pregnant women also attending these classes (29). The evidence base indicates that partners in both heterosexual and same-sex couples can feel excluded during antenatal education classes (30). It is important that the attendance of partners is encouraged and supported. This can be achieved by identifying and addressing the learning needs of partners at the outset of the antenatal education course and by taking an inclusive approach towards partners in every aspect of the course (30,31). Gender-specific topics and gender-neutral language should be considered and the content should be flexible enough to meet the needs of both heterosexual and same-sex couples (30). A focus

on the relationship between partners and on developing a positive parent-infant bond are antenatal education topics associated with high satisfaction by both pregnant women and their partners alike (3,32). Adolescent fathers can benefit from male-only preparation for fatherhood classes that begin in the antenatal period and extend into the postnatal period (32). Flexibility in class times has also been shown to be a supportive factor in increasing partner attendance (30,33).

Awareness of cultural context and sensitivity in the delivery of antenatal education also requires consideration (32). For example, a study in Turkey identified the need for separate groups for men and women in order to encourage male participation as attendance at antenatal education is traditionally perceived as being for women only (32). Greene highlights the importance of having a 'culturally competent' antenatal educator who can "promote, support, and protect normal birth for women of all cultures through education and advocacy that is adapted to meet a cultural group's specific needs and expectations" (34). Green suggests that an examination of the sociodemographic trends of the local area is prudent in the first instance in an effort to increase understanding of the population that the antenatal education provider intends to work with (34).

# Optimal content of antenatal education programmes

The evidence base indicates that pregnant women and their partners attend antenatal education classes to gain knowledge about the social, emotional and psychological aspects of parenthood, to improve their knowledge of labour and childbirth, to alleviate anxiety, to improve the maternal sense of control by enabling her to actively participate in the decision-making process during labour and birth, to learn how to care for their new baby, to obtain information on breastfeeding and to widen their social support circles (9,22).

While the content of antenatal education classes appears to vary greatly, there is a growing consensus that the transition to parenthood is an essential element of antenatal education curricula, in addition to information on labour and birth, pain relief and breastfeeding (14,32). However, the evidence base indicates that pregnant women and their partners want antenatal education that is also participative and responsive to their needs (31). The use of a parent-led approach to setting the learning agenda appears to be a recurring theme within the literature (4,12,31,35). A non-participatory approach to deciding the learning outcomes for antenatal education often leads to parents having their educational needs overlooked (36). Taking greater responsibility for one's own health has gained greater traction in the more recent academic and policy literature and in keeping with this literature, Ahlden et al. suggest that expectant parents' questions should be the starting point in setting the learning agenda (16,35,37–39).

# Mode of delivery of antenatal education

The mode of delivery of antenatal education is also much debated with the consensus that the passive transfer of information alone is not sufficient to prepare pregnant women and their partners for birth and parenthood (35,36,40). The use of adult learning theories, group facilitation and experiential learning methods are recommended (4,12). Adopting a facilitative approach to antenatal education enables women to discuss concerns regarding the birthing process and the transition to parenthood (41). In addition, problem-solving activities have also been shown to improve the retention of knowledge and skills, at least in the short-term (12,42). Byproducts of problem-based learning when performed as a small group activity include higher levels of self-directed learning, stimulation of discussion within the group and relation of theory to practice (43).

# Training and resources for antenatal education

In Ireland, antenatal education may be provided by midwives, public health nurses and physiotherapists in the public sector (4). Within the private sector, a professional qualification is not mandatory for antenatal education providers, although some choose to undertake training in the area (44). While midwives receive training to deliver antenatal education as part of their undergraduate degree, Barlow et al.'s survey of stakeholders suggests that this training inadequately prepares midwives for the role of antenatal educator (31). The value of formal educational preparation for antenatal education providers is becoming increasingly recognised within the literature (4,12,32,35). Such educational preparation should include education on the principles of adult learning, experiential learning methods and group facilitation skills, in order to place the emphasis of antenatal education firmly on the learner (4,45). The importance of engaging in continuing professional development in the area of antenatal education has also been acknowledged and this should be supported by management at every level within the health service (4).

# Optimal class size

The consensus on the optimal group size for antenatal education classes remains uncertain, with class descriptions ranging from those provided at the individual level to those provided within small groups to much larger auditorium-based groups described within the literature (9,11,22,31). Large group sizes lend themselves better to a didactic form of teaching whilst smaller groups appear to better facilitate learning (4,12,31). A group of approximately 8-10 participants encourages interaction amongst group members and between group members and the facilitator and facilitates the sharing of information and supports the formation of support networks that may endure beyond childbirth (32). Aside from the evidence that small groups facilitate the implementation of adult learning principles, qualitative research indicates that women want the opportunity to ask questions, to be able to clarify the information received and to be able to relate the information received to their own personal circumstances and that these objectives are better achieved within small groups (22,23). Furthermore, a recent randomised-controlled trial which examined the delivery of antenatal education in small classes versus large auditorium-based classes found that small classes appear to impact positively on a woman's feeling of self-efficacy in coping with childbirth through exposure to vicarious experience and encouragement from other participants within the group (22). Increased feelings of self-efficacy in childbirth may in turn reduce the likelihood of early admission, the use of analgesia during labour and the use of obstetric interventions (22).



# Pregnant women and their partners who have additional educational needs

### Vaginal birth after caesarean birth

A woman who has had one caesarean birth is much more likely to have a second caesarean birth if she decides to have another baby (46). This trend is discordant with much of the recent literature which indicates that vaginal birth after caesarean birth (VBAC) is the preferred option for many pregnant women and has been demonstrated to be a safe alternative to a repeat caesarean birth in many instances (46-48). The use of decision-aids, written information tailored to the needs of the woman and 'VBAC Checklists' which summarise such information can help reduce decisional-conflict, increase knowledge, improve satisfaction and ultimately aid informed decision-making (48-50). Fraser et al. found that an antenatal education programme had no significant effect on the proportion of women choosing VBAC when compared to women in the control group who simply received written information alone (51). While the evidence base from the perspective of women on factors supportive of VBAC is lacking, what is published is contrary to Fraser et al.'s findings. Women indicate that achieving VBAC is made more likely through the provision of specific antenatal classes for women who have a past history of caesarean birth, in conjunction with providing women with the opportunity to meet other women who have personal experience of VBAC, empowering women to take part in the decisionmaking process, encouraging women to write a birth plan and providing an environment in which all healthcare professionals are supportive towards VBAC (49,52-54). The OptiBIRTH project was a 4-year project conducted in 8 EU member states including Ireland, and saw the introduction of an innovative, evidence-based intervention that aimed to improve the rate of VBAC, with a particular focus on low VBAC countries such as Ireland, Italy and Germany (55). A statistically significant increase in VBAC rates (from 8-22%) was observed in preliminary results from only one of the intervention sites. The intervention was found to be safe and feasible, and antenatal education was a major component. The researchers concluded that "any intervention that is feasible and safe and that may lead to a decrease of repeat CS should be promoted" (56). The current evidence base suggests that pregnant women who have had one caesarean birth require tailored information and the opportunity to meet other women who have experience of VBAC, and that consideration of specific antenatal classes for this cohort of women may support a parent- centred approach to antenatal education.

# Antenatal education for pregnant women and their partners who have experienced pregnancy loss

Pregnant women and their partners who are experiencing pregnancy following previous perinatal loss have specific needs and concerns which are often not adequately met within standard antenatal education classes (57,58). A metasynthesis of the expectations regarding antenatal care of pregnant women and their partners following perinatal loss revealed that some women avoided discussing their past experiences or avoided antenatal class altogether (57). This avoidance was secondary to concerns of potentially reliving the trauma of the loss through disclosing it in the antenatal classes and also because they were concerned about the effects that disclosing such information might have on other women within the group who may have never experienced adverse pregnancy outcomes (57). Pregnant women and their partners who have experienced a perinatal loss in the past are often driven to seek information and reassurance from their healthcare professional out of fear and anxiety and that their concerns and needs differ from those experiencing their first pregnancy (59). It is therefore important to consider antenatal education courses specifically tailored to meet the needs of parents who have experienced a bereavement (58,60). O'Leary et al. suggest that the curriculum content and the timing of its delivery should be flexible in order to allow women and their partners the opportunity to share their experiences and emotions as they experience a subsequent pregnancy after pregnancy loss (60). Providing expectant parents with the opportunity to meet other individuals who have had similar experiences has been shown to be beneficial (57,58). Furthermore, having a class facilitator who listens and acknowledges the participants' past experiences and concerns without judgement appears to be an essential component of such classes (57,58,60).

### Perinatal mental health care

The National Maternity Strategy 2016-2026 states that all healthcare professionals involved in antenatal and postnatal care should receive education and training to identify women who are experiencing perinatal mental health problems (14). Perinatal mental health is the term used to describe the mental health of a woman throughout her pregnancy and up to one year postpartum. Perinatal mental health problems can affect up to 20% of women, but early detection can lead to improved outcomes for the mother, infant and other family members (61,62).

In response to this identified need within the National Maternity Strategy 2016-2026, the HSE developed, and is now implementing, the Specialist Perinatal Mental Health Model of Care. An important component of this is to ensure women with milder mental health problems also receive a service. Underpinning the Model of Care is a comprehensive educational component delivered to multidisciplinary staff involved in service provision. This has been augmented by the recent development of two educational Apps: one for staff in Specialist teams and one for the wider healthcare community. In addition to these educational resources, best practice principles have been developed for public health nurses, midwives and practice nurses to support the provision of evidence-based perinatal mental health care (63). One of the principles within this resource identifies the need for standardised evidence-based information in both verbal and written forms to be offered to pregnant women and their partners (63). Higgins et al. advise that this information should address the full spectrum of potential perinatal mental health problems and should be incorporated into all programmes offered to pregnant women (64). Furthermore, to facilitate pregnant women and their partners accessing information, services and supports in a timely manner, health services should adequately signpost these resources (63). Education in screening and perinatal mental health care for all healthcare professionals, including antenatal education providers, has been identified as an important learning need (63).

### Conclusion

Antenatal education presents a valuable opportunity to prepare pregnant women and their partners both physically and mentally for birth and parenthood. The promotion of empowering, evidence-based and nationally consistent messages is an important component of delivering a high quality, equitable antenatal education service. In addition, an antenatal education service that is participatory and responsive to local need needs to be supported. Antenatal education should be parent-led, and the questions of prospective parents should be the starting point when setting the learning agenda for each individual antenatal education course. This approach should be supported by classes that are delivered in small groups, which are interactive and inclusive, and which apply the knowledge of adult learning principles, experiential learning methods and group facilitation. Antenatal education providers need to be supported to develop and implement these skills, as well as to employ strategies that promote physiological birth (65). In addition, consideration should be given to the specific learning needs of sub-groups within the population and how such learning needs may be addressed.

# Vision for a safe, high quality antenatal education service for Ireland

# Antenatal education services in Ireland: a national statement of purpose

The purpose of antenatal education services in Ireland is to provide a parent-centred, evidence- informed, nationally consistent and equitable service to all pregnant women and their partners living in Ireland in order to prepare them for birth and the transition to parenthood.

# Aim and objectives of the Standards for Antenatal Education in Ireland

The aim of these Standards is to enhance the current provision of antenatal education services in Ireland through the identification of key components that should be included, as well as ensuring the delivery of consistent messages to pregnant women and their partners.

### The specific objectives of these Standards for Antenatal Education are:

- to enumerate the components of a high quality antenatal education service:
- to help inform the expectations of pregnant women and their partners, service providers and the general public;
- to create a solid foundation for antenatal education services in Ireland upon which improvements can be made in line with best available evidence;
- to promote practice that is effective, up to date and consistent.

Standards act as drivers to improve healthcare services, inform the public and service providers about the level of service expected, and guide service providers in their endeavours to provide a high quality and safe service (15). The HIQA National Standards for Safer Better Healthcare have been used as a framework for these Standards for Antenatal Education as they provide an endorsed template for delivering standards within the healthcare services (5). It is intended that these Standards will act as a first step towards standardising the provision of antenatal education in Ireland.

# Scope of the Standards for Antenatal Education

The National Standards apply to the provision of antenatal education services within the public sector in Ireland. While it is acknowledged that not all of the Standards are relevant to the antenatal education services within the private sector, it is hoped that they will serve as a resource for the enhancement of these services also.

The Standards for Antenatal Education do not describe the detail of clinical practice, nor do they describe the optimal content of the proposed standardised antenatal education curriculum, as these areas lie outside the scope of this project.

# Process of developing the Standards

The Antenatal to Postnatal Implementation Team was established under the auspices of the Nurture Programme: Infant Health and Wellbeing during the latter half of 2016. The team was charged with developing Standards for Antenatal Education and developing resources to support their delivery. The main deliverables of the team were to develop a book to support pregnant women and their partners on their pregnancy journey and into early parenthood, *My Pregnancy*, and a set of national standards on antenatal education, both of which would be supported by the provision of supplementary material on the national parenting and child health website, <a href="https://www.mychild.ie">www.mychild.ie</a>.

### The process of developing the Standards for Antenatal Education has been as follows:

- A review of the literature pertaining to best practice in the provision of antenatal education with particular attention paid to identifying evidence-based recommendations for the content, format and mode of delivery of antenatal education.
- Masterclass from Marie Kehoe-O'Sullivan, Director of Standards & Quality Improvement in HIQA, on her experience of developing the 'National Standards for Safer Better Maternity Services'.
- A review of the content and structure of other healthcare standards, both within the Irish and international literature.
- Interviews and online surveys with a wide range of stakeholders involved in antenatal education through maternity hospitals, Community Healthcare Organisation (CHO) areas, and private practice, to scope current practices and perspectives on antenatal education.

- An online survey consultation with parents and parents-to-be.
- Expert input from members of the Implementation Team on the perceived strengths and weaknesses of current antenatal education services in Ireland, which was fed into the development process of the Standards.
- Drafting the Standards for Antenatal Education in Ireland using the HIQA guidance "National Standards for Safer Better Healthcare" as a template.
- A national consultation day with over 100 antenatal education stakeholders to share and seek feedback on draft Standards, after which recommendations for their improvement were actioned.
- Review by, and feedback from, a range of key stakeholders and experts.

# Implementation of the Standards for Antenatal Education

The Implementation of the Standards will be led by the Women's and Infants Health Programme, collaborating with other key stakeholders as required. A range of supports for antenatal educators will be put in place, including a training programme for antenatal educators and a self-audit tool.

# Structure of the Standards

There are four essential components to consider in providing an effective, evidence-based, nationally consistent and equitable antenatal education service (Figure 1).

### **Parents**

Antenatal education is parent centered.
The curriculum is designed and delivered to meet the identified needs and preferences of pregnant women and their partners.

### **Practice**

Antenatal education services are evidence-based, interactive and participative and serve to empower pregnant women and their partners.

### **Provider**

Antenatal education providers are educated in adult learning theories and group facilitation and are key to the delivery of a parent-centered service.

### Resources

Necessary resources are available to antenatal education providers to support the provision of a high quality, nationally consistent and equitable antenatal education service.

Figure 1. Four essential components considered in the creation of the Standards for Antenatal Education in Ireland

HIQA's National Standards for Safer Better Healthcare is divided under eight separate themes, four of which relate to the quality and safety of the service, with the other four relating to the capacity and capability of the service (5). These themes have been used to guide the development of the Standards for Antenatal Education under each of the four main components. For more information, see the Appendix.

### Each standard is broken down into three parts:

- Standard describes the overarching outcome required to contribute to the quality of the antenatal education service.
- Features these are objectives and describe the steps towards achieving the standard.
- What this means for those using maternity services this section provides guidance for pregnant women and their partners on what they can expect from their chosen antenatal education service.

# Standards for Antenatal Education in Ireland

# Summary of Standards for Antenatal Education

# Theme 1: Person-centred care and Support

Standard 1.1	The planning and facilitation of antenatal education is informed by the identified needs
	and preferences of pregnant women and their partners.

- **Standard 1.2** Pregnant women and their partners have equitable access to antenatal education based on their assessed needs (e.g. antenatal, physical, transport and language needs) and their preferences (e.g. format and timing of classes).
- **Standard 1.3** Pregnant women and their partners experience antenatal education which respects their diverse health and wellbeing needs and choices.
- **Standard 1.4** Pregnant women and their partners are empowered to make informed decisions about their care.
- **Standard 1.5** The dignity, privacy and autonomy (i.e. independence in one's thoughts or actions) of each pregnant woman and her partner is respected and promoted.
- **Standard 1.6** Antenatal education providers promote a culture of compassion, care, commitment and respect.
- **Standard 1.7** There is an evaluation process in place for all antenatal education programmes.

# Theme 2: Effective Care and Support

- **Standard 2.1** Antenatal education reflects the best available evidence of what is essential to achieve a positive birth experience and high quality outcomes for pregnant women and their babies.
- **Standard 2.2** Antenatal education is provided in a physical environment which supports the delivery of a safe, high quality service and which protects the health and wellbeing of those delivering and receiving antenatal education.

# Theme 3: Safe Care and Support

- **Standard 3.1** Antenatal education providers empower pregnant women and their partners through the appropriate design and delivery of antenatal education.
- **Standard 3.2** Antenatal education providers ensure that they are aware of their role in responding to suspected or confirmed domestic or child protection/welfare concerns.

# Theme 4: Better Health and Wellbeing

**Standard 4.1** Antenatal education providers support pregnant women and their partners to promote, protect and improve their health and wellbeing and that of their baby.

# Theme 5: Leadership, Governance and Management

- **Standard 5.1** Antenatal education providers have governance arrangements in place in order to ensure the delivery of high quality antenatal education.
- **Standard 5.2** Antenatal education providers maintain a statement of purpose that accurately describes the service provided to pregnant women and their partners. This statement includes information on where such services are provided and how they can be accessed.
- **Standard 5.3** The identified learning needs of pregnant women and their partners are central to setting the learning agenda for antenatal education classes. Antenatal education providers, in partnership with pregnant women and their partners, set clear objectives and create a clear plan for how these learning needs will be met.
- **Standard 5.4** Antenatal education providers at all levels promote and strengthen a culture of consistency and quality throughout the antenatal education service.
- **Standard 5.5** Antenatal education services are compliant with relevant legislation.

### Theme 6: Workforce

- **Standard 6.1** Antenatal education providers will have the required competencies to provide high quality, parent-centred antenatal education.
- **Standard 6.2** Managers of antenatal education providers ensure their workforce has the competencies and training required to facilitate and deliver high quality antenatal education.
- **Standard 6.3** Managers of antenatal education providers support their workforce in delivering high quality, safe antenatal education.

# Theme 7: Use of Resources

**Standard 7.1** Antenatal education providers plan and manage the use of available resources to provide high quality antenatal education efficiently and sustainably.

# Theme 8: Use of Information

- **Standard 8.1** Antenatal education providers use information as a resource in planning, delivering, managing and improving the quality of antenatal education.
- **Standard 8.2** Antenatal education providers have effective arrangements for information governance.

# Theme 1: Person-centred care and support

- **Standard 1.1** The planning and facilitation of antenatal education is informed by the identified needs and preferences of pregnant women and their partners.
  - Antenatal education is parent-led and includes a partnership approach when setting the learning agenda.
  - A skilled antenatal education provider is a central component of an antenatal education programme. This enables pregnant women and their partners to share their hopes, fears, expectations and experiences and to be respectfully listened to.
  - Antenatal education providers are flexible in the format and timing of the antenatal classes they provide in order to meet the varied needs of pregnant women and their partners.

### Standard 1.1 What this means for you as a pregnant woman and for your partner:

- You and your partner, whilst being mindful of the needs of other pregnant women and their partners in the class, will have a say in the topics to be covered in the antenatal education classes.
- You and your partner will be encouraged to ask questions and to discuss your hopes and concerns about your journey to parenthood during the antenatal education classes.
- A variety of options in terms of format, timing and location of antenatal education classes will be offered to you and your partner.

# **Standard 1.2** Pregnant women and their partners have equitable access to antenatal education based on their assessed needs (e.g. antenatal, physical, transport and language needs) and their preferences (e.g. format and timing of classes).

- Antenatal education providers ensure that there is a variety of routes and mechanisms for pregnant women and their partners to access antenatal education in a timely manner.
- Pregnant women and their partners are made aware of the variety of antenatal education options available to them in their area and how they can access such antenatal education. This information is readily available through local maternity hospitals and online.
- Antenatal education providers offer specific encouragement and support to partners to be involved throughout the birth experience and in preparing themselves for parenthood.
- Antenatal education providers have systems in place to ensure that there is outreach to population groups who are at risk of social exclusion.

### What this means for you as a pregnant woman and for your partner:

- You and your partner will be offered antenatal education in a format that you can understand, and which best suits your needs.
- Information about antenatal education classes and how you can access them is available through your local maternity hospital and online.
- Your partner is welcomed and encouraged to attend antenatal education classes.
- Through attending antenatal education classes, you and your partner will receive the information that you both need to help prepare you for birth and for becoming parents.

# **Standard 1.3** Pregnant women and their partners experience antenatal education which respects their diverse health and wellbeing needs and choices.

- Antenatal education providers provide information in a respectful, nonjudgemental and professional manner and in line with national guidelines.
- Antenatal education providers consider the cultural, language and literacy needs of pregnant women and their partners in planning and delivering their services.
- Consideration is given as to how the learning needs of groups who have specific learning needs may be adequately met (e.g. pregnant teenagers, multiple pregnancy, pregnant women who have a disability, VBAC, pregnant women and their partners who have experienced perinatal loss) and that the delivery of information is evidence-informed.

### What this means for you as a pregnant woman and for your partner:

- You and your partner will receive antenatal education that is respectful of your values and beliefs.
- Your antenatal education provider will tailor the information you receive based on your past pregnancy experiences. For example, if you have had a caesarean birth in the past, you may receive information regarding the possibility of preparing for a vaginal birth if it is a suitable option for you. If you have experienced a pregnancy loss or the loss of a baby, there will be specific antenatal education available to meet your needs and those of your partner.

# **Standard 1.4** Pregnant women and their partners are empowered to make informed decisions about their care.

- Antenatal education providers ensure that all information provided is standardised, evidence-based and easily accessible in a variety of formats and languages, where possible, and that it adequately meets the needs of pregnant women and their partners.
- This standardised evidence-based material is comprehensive and covers all available birth choices.

### What this means for you as a pregnant woman and for your partner:

 You and your partner will receive antenatal education in a language and format that you can understand, and which helps you to make informed decisions about labour, birth and early parenthood.

- **Standard 1.5** The dignity, privacy and autonomy (e.g. independence in one's thoughts or actions) of each pregnant woman and her partner is respected and promoted.
  - Antenatal education providers respect the dignity and privacy of pregnant women and their partners at all times.
  - Any information that a pregnant woman or her partner discloses to the antenatal education provider can only be discussed with other healthcare professionals with permission.
  - Antenatal education providers will discuss 'ground rules' with each group at the outset to ensure that the disclosure of confidential or sensitive information within the group setting is protected.
  - Antenatal education providers respect each individual's values and beliefs, their cultural practices and their ethnicity.
  - Antenatal education should support pregnant women and their partners to plan for their pregnancy and birth and to ask for their needs to be met from service providers.
  - Where birth options are available, women will be empowered to make an informed choice.

### What this means for you as a pregnant woman and for your partner:

- Your personal information will be protected, and your antenatal education provider may only discuss your personal information with other healthcare professionals who are involved in your care with your permission.
- Your antenatal education provider will encourage you and other members of the class to talk about your hopes, anxieties and expectations in preparing for birth and parenthood. Sometimes sensitive or very personal information may be shared within the group setting and all efforts will be made to ensure that this private information is not shared outside of the group.
- Your values and beliefs are respected by your antenatal education provider.

# **Standard 1.6** Antenatal education providers promote a culture of compassion, care, commitment and respect.

- In line with a parent-led approach to the provision of antenatal education, the concerns of pregnant women and their partners are listened to and addressed by antenatal education providers.
- Antenatal education providers strive to create a culture of inclusivity and respect within the group where every pregnant woman and partner is recognised as an autonomous individual and is listened to with compassion.

### Standard 1.6 What this means for you as a pregnant woman and for your partner:

- You are treated with respect by your antenatal education provider.
- Your antenatal education provider is focused on creating a compassionate, supportive environment that is considerate of the many different needs and experiences of the pregnant women and partners attending the class.

### **Standard 1.7** There is an evaluation process in place for all antenatal education programmes.

- Antenatal services have processes in place to evaluate all programmes and learn from the evaluations.
- Antenatal education providers have a written complaints policy in place which allows for complaints to be dealt with in a transparent manner.
- Antenatal education providers ensure that there is a formal evaluation process in place for incorporating feedback to progress continuous improvement of the antenatal education service.
- The organisation's evaluation of antenatal education is factored into the service plans.

### What this means for you as a pregnant woman and for your partner:

- Your views and suggestions will be listened to and responded to by your antenatal education provider in a timely manner.
- Antenatal education providers have a process in place by which evaluations and suggestions for improvement will be reviewed and acted upon in order to improve the quality of the antenatal education service provided.

# Theme 2: Effective care and support

# **Standard 2.1** Antenatal education reflects the best available evidence of what is essential to achieve a positive birth experience and high quality outcomes for pregnant women and their babies.

- Antenatal education providers ensure that the most current evidence is imparted using the most up to date resourses and evidence-based information.
- Antenatal education providers are supported to provide the most up to date materials through access to evidence-based information sources (e.g. academic journals, HSE library resources).
- Antenatal education providers must ensure that they practise in line with national and international clinical guidelines.
- Antenatal education providers have accountability for engaging in continuous professional development in order to develop skills in group facilitation and in order to gain a deeper understanding of the importance of evidence-based practice, of adult learning theories and of experiential learning methods.
- Antenatal education providers are supported with protected time and opportunities to fulfil such responsibilities.

### What this means for you as a pregnant woman and for your partner:

- Your antenatal education provider has a responsibility to ensure that the information you receive in your antenatal education classes is the most accurate and up to date information available.
- Your antenatal education provider has a responsibility to engage in regular education update/development sessions throughout their career in order to provide you and your partner with high quality antenatal education.

# **Standard 2.2** Antenatal education is provided in a physical environment which supports the delivery of a safe, high-quality service and which protects the health and wellbeing of those delivering and receiving antenatal education.

- The physical environment is an appropriate, safe, clean and pleasant learning environment for pregnant women and their partners.
- The physical environment is fit for purpose and enables antenatal education providers to hold classes that are interactive, participative and which meet the learning needs of pregnant women and their partners.
- The environment in which antenatal education is delivered respects the dignity and privacy of pregnant women and their partners.
- The space in which antenatal education is delivered is adequate and flexible and meets the needs of pregnant women, their partners or family members who may have a physical disability.
- Staff have a safe working environment that is fit for purpose and in compliance with health and safety legislation.
- Antenatal education, supporting materials and equipment used during classes are safe, fit for purpose and in line with legislation, national policy and best available evidence.

# Theme 2: Effective care and support

### Standard 2.2

### What this means for you as a pregnant woman and for your partner:

- The setting in which your antenatal education takes place is an easily accessible, suitable, comfortable and safe learning environment.
- · All of the equipment used during your antenatal classes is safe and fit for use.
- · All birth options will be discussed so you can think about your birth.

# Theme 3: Safe care and support

- **Standard 3.1** Antenatal education providers empower pregnant women and their partners through the appropriate design and delivery of antenatal education.
  - Comprehensive and standardised antenatal information is available to pregnant
    women and their partners throughout pregnancy with the aim of promoting
    and preparing them for a physiological birth, while also preparing them for
    interventions that may happen during the birthing process when nature needs a
    hand.

### What this means for you as a pregnant woman and for your partner:

- Your antenatal education provider will explain how you can prepare for a
  normal birth and the possible interventions that sometimes need to take place
  during childbirth to help protect you and/or your baby during the birthing
  period. You will be encouraged to practice all skills that you learn throughout
  your antenatal education programme (e.g. labour and birth positions, breathing
  through labour and birth) in order to promote and protect physiological birth.
- All birth options will be discussed so you can think about your birth preferences whilst understanding that plans may change.

### Standard 3.2

Antenatal education providers ensure that they are aware of their role in responding to suspected or confirmed domestic or child protection/welfare concerns.

 Antenatal education providers are familiar with relevant legislation, policies and guidelines and engage in ongoing education to support their ability to identify, respond to and seek appropriate help for pregnant women, their partners or children in abusive situations.

# Theme 3: Safe care and support

### Standard 3.2

- Antenatal education providers ensure that information about, and signposting toward, support services is easily available in order to enable women or their partners who are at risk of, or who are experiencing, abuse to access appropriate services.
- Antenatal services should have a pathway in place to support antenatal educators when disclosure is required

### What this means for you as a pregnant woman and for your partner:

- If your antenatal education provider is worried about domestic violence and/or child abuse, then they have to tell their manager and social services about their worries.
- Your antenatal education provider has received specific training so that they can support you if child protection/welfare concerns arise.
- Your antenatal education provider can provide you with the support and information to gain access to the right services for you.

# Theme 4: Better health and wellbeing

# **Standard 4.1** Antenatal education providers support pregnant women and their partners to promote, protect and improve their health and wellbeing and that of their baby.

- Antenatal education providers offer information on the importance of optimising health and wellbeing during the pregnancy and following the birth in order to maximise positive outcomes for mother and baby.
- Comprehensive, evidence-based information that discusses perinatal mental health issues is made available to all pregnant women and their partners.
   Antenatal education providers offer this information in both written and verbal formats.
- Antenatal education providers offer information on the importance of a healthy and active lifestyle for partners and other family members.
- Antenatal education providers provide information on developing health and wellbeing in babies such as breastfeeding and infant mental health.

# Theme 4: Better health and wellbeing

# Standard 4.1 What this means for you as a pregnant woman and for your partner:

- Your antenatal education provider offers information in order to empower you and your partner to make positive and healthy choices during and after your current pregnancy and possibly in preparing your body for another pregnancy, if that is what you choose.
- Information on how to care for your mental health during and after pregnancy and where to access information and services to support your mental health is available from your antenatal education provider.
- You will get information on becoming a parent and the early childhood choices you can make to improve your baby's health and to form a strong relationship with your baby.

# Theme 5: Leadership, governance and management

# **Standard 5.1** Antenatal education providers have governance arrangements in place in order to ensure the delivery of high quality antenatal education.

• Those governing the antenatal education service regularly review information on the quality of the service, which may be gained through service provider or parent feedback and through audit, in order to ensure that antenatal education is delivered in line with national standards, guidelines and policies.

### What this means for you as a pregnant woman and for your partner:

• The people in charge of providing the antenatal education services in your area regularly review national policies, standards and guidelines, as well as the feedback of parents and the providers of antenatal education, to ensure that the antenatal education service provided to you is up to date and of a high quality.

### Standard 5.2

Antenatal education providers maintain a statement of purpose that accurately describes the service provided to pregnant women and their partners. This statement includes information on where such services are provided and how they can be accessed.

- This statement of purpose should be easily accessible to all stakeholders.
- Governance arrangements are in place to check that the antenatal education service is being delivered within the scope of the statement of purpose.

# Theme 5: Leadership, governance and management

### Standard 5.2 What this means for you as a pregnant woman and for your partner:

clear plan for how these learning needs will be met.

- Your antenatal education provider offers information about the antenatal education classes provided and where they can be accessed.
- Your antenatal education provider regularly reviews their service to ensure it is of a high quality and in line with national standards.

# **Standard 5.3** The identified learning needs of pregnant women and their partners are central to setting the learning agenda for antenatal education classes. Antenatal education providers, in partnership with pregnant women and their partners, set clear objectives and create a

- A core syllabus, which ensures the delivery of consistent evidence-based messages, is used in conjunction with the identified learning needs of pregnant women and their partners, to guide the learning agenda for antenatal classes at the local level.
- Pregnant women and their partners are given the opportunity to discuss their learning needs and to set the learning agenda in partnership with their antenatal education provider.
- Antenatal education providers describe clear aims, anticipated learning outcomes and a plan for facilitating the session at the outset of each antenatal education class.

### What this means for you as a pregnant woman and for your partner:

- A core programme of antenatal education topics will be delivered throughout the country so that no matter where you live, you will receive similar information from an appropriately educated provider.
- The information that you and your partner receive will be influenced by your learning needs and those of other members of the group.
- Your antenatal education provider will work together with you, your partner
  and with other members of the group in order to agree the content of your
  antenatal education classes. At the beginning of each antenatal education
  session, your antenatal education provider will ask you what you want to learn
  and clearly describe what they are going to teach and what they hope you will
  learn from the session.

# **Standard 5.4** Antenatal education providers at all levels promote and strengthen a culture of consistency and quality throughout the antenatal education service.

 Antenatal education providers and their managers actively promote and work to strengthen a culture of consistency and quality through the mission statement, the service design, the code of governance, the use of the evidence base, and through the education and evaluation processes embedded within the antenatal education service.

### What this means for you as a pregnant woman and for your partner:

 Your antenatal education provider ensures that they provide a high quality service. A description of the service and how the quality of the service is maintained is easily available to you through your antenatal education provider.

# Theme 5: Leadership, governance and management

### **Standard 5.5** Antenatal education services are compliant with relevant legislation.

 Antenatal education providers must ensure that they are compliant with legislation such as child protection, data protection and health and safety legislation.

### What this means for you as a pregnant woman and for your partner:

· Antenatal education providers comply with all relevant Irish law.

# Theme 6: Workforce

# **Standard 6.1** Antenatal education providers will have the required competencies to provide high-quality, parent-centred antenatal education.

• Education of antenatal education providers is evidence-informed and places a particular emphasis on developing facilitation skills.

### What this means for you as a pregnant woman and for your partner:

 Your antenatal education provider has the necessary education and skills to support your learning.

# **Standard 6.2** Managers of antenatal education providers ensure their workforce has the competencies and training required to facilitate and deliver high quality antenatal education.

- Antenatal education providers should understand adult learning theories and experiential learning and should have group facilitation skills.
- Antenatal education providers engage in continuous professional development, including supervision activities and reflective practice, to assure competence.
- There is a culture of support and continuous learning among antenatal education providers, with peer-mentoring and coaching forming central components of learning.
- All antenatal education providers are supported to maintain their professional knowledge, skills and competence in line with best practice and the needs of the population being cared for, through the provision of protected time to fulfil these requirements and adequate opportunities for further education.
- The ongoing education of antenatal education providers is formalised, planned and regularly reviewed in order to address identified deficiencies and to ensure that antenatal education providers have the competencies appropriate to their role.

# Theme 6: Workforce

### Standard 6.2 WI

### What this means for you as a pregnant woman and for your partner:

- Antenatal education providers are facilitated to engage in continuous professional development by their managers to keep their knowledge and skills up to date.
- **Standard 6.3** Managers of antenatal education providers support their workforce in delivering high-quality, safe antenatal education.
  - Antenatal education providers are supported by management to provide high quality education through the provision of up-to-date materials, visual aids, digital resources, props and equipment in order to adequately meet the learning needs of pregnant women and their partners.
  - Antenatal education providers are supported by their managers to engage in CPD and regular updates on the evidence base related to the provision of high quality antenatal education, including acquiring facilitation skills.

### What this means for you as a pregnant woman and for your partner:

 Your antenatal education provider is supported by management to provide a high quality service through the provision of suitable props and materials in order to support your learning and that of your partner.

# Theme 7: Use of resources

- **Standard 7.1** Antenatal education providers plan and manage the use of available resources to provide, high-quality antenatal education efficiently and sustainably.
  - Antenatal education providers are provided with the necessary equipment including labour, birth, parenting and breastfeeding teaching aids in order to adequately meet the learning needs of pregnant women and their partners.
  - Hospital management include the provision of high quality, safe antenatal education in their budgeting considerations.
  - Antenatal education providers maintain equipment in line with manufacturer's instructions, such that they remain fit for purpose.

# Theme 7: Use of resources

### Standard 7.1 What this means for you as a pregnant woman and for your partner:

- Your antenatal education provider is provided with resources including labour, birth, parenting and breastfeeding teaching aids in order to ensure the delivery of a service that will meet your learning needs and those of your partner.
- The equipment used in antenatal education classes will be adequately maintained and safe to use.

# Theme 8: Use of information

- **Standard 8.1** Antenatal education providers use information as a resource in planning, delivering, managing and improving the quality of antenatal education.
  - Antenatal education providers use high quality information (both quantitative and qualitative in nature) in the planning and delivery of their service in order to assess the needs of the local population and the needs of educators, and to provide a service that is parent-centred and responsive.

### What this means for you as a pregnant woman and for your partner:

- Your antenatal education provider has access to information about the needs
  of the local population and uses it to provide a service that is responsive to the
  needs of local people and educators. However, the classes should be based
  around your individual needs and those of the group.
- **Standard 8.2** Antenatal education providers have effective arrangements for information governance.
  - Antenatal education providers ensure that there are appropriate arrangements in place for information governance so that the antenatal education service complies with data protection legislation.
  - Education in information governance for antenatal education providers is in line with their level of access to personal health information and facilitates them to fulfil their roles and responsibilities for information governance.
  - Information is collected, processed, used and shared (with service users' consent), while respecting the privacy and confidentiality of the pregnant women and partners to whom it relates.

# Theme 8: Use of information

### Standard 8.2

# What this means for you as a pregnant woman and for your partner:

- Your legal rights to have your personal information kept securely and confidentially are respected.
- Your antenatal education provider has a responsibility to store any personal information in line with data protection legislation. If your antenatal education provider has access to personal information, they will undergo the necessary training to ensure that they are aware of their responsibilities in this area.
- Your personal information will not be shared for use outside of your antenatal education classes unless you give permission for this to happen.

# References

- 1. Ahldén I, Ahlehagen S, Dahlgren LO, Josefsson A. Parents' expectations about participating in antenatal parenthood education classes. J Perinat Educ. 2012;21(1):11-7.
- Department of Health. Preparation for birth and beyond: a resource pack for leaders of community groups and activities. London: Department of Health; 2011.
- **3.** Healthcare Improvement Scotland. Parent education core syllabus. Scotland: Healthcare Improvement Scotland; 2011.
- **4.** O'Sullivan C, O'Connell R, Devane D. A descriptive survey of the educational preparation and practices of antenatal educators in Ireland. J Perinat Educ. 2014;23(1):33–40.
- **5.** HIQA. A guide to the national standards for safer better healthcare. Dublin: HIQA; 2012.
- **6.** Mistry KB, Minkovitz CS, Riley AW, Johnson SB, Grason HA, Dubay LC, et al. A New Framework for Childhood Health Promotion: The Role of Policies and Programs in Building Capacity and Foundations of Early Childhood Health. Am J Public Health. 2012 Sep;102(9):1688–96.
- 7. Shonkoff JP, Boyce WT, McEwen BS. Neuroscience, molecular biology, and the childhood roots of health disparities: building a new framework for health promotion and disease prevention. JAMA. 2009 Jun 3;301(21):2252–9.
- **8.** Marmot M. Fair society, healthy lives: the Marmot Review: strategic review of health inequalities in England post-2010. London: Department for International Development; 2010.
- **9.** Gagnon AJ, Sandall J. Individual or group antenatal education for childbirth or parenthood, or both. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2007 Jul 18;(3):CD002869.
- **10.** Fabian HM, Rådestad IJ, Waldenström U. Childbirth and parenthood education classes in Sweden. Women's opinion and possible outcomes. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2005 May;84(5):436–43.

- **11.** Brixval CS, Axelsen SF, Andersen SK, Due P, Koushede V. The effect of antenatal education in small classes on obstetric and psycho-social outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis protocol. Syst Rev. 2014 Feb 13;3:12.
- **12.** Svensson J, Barclay L, Cooke M. Effective antenatal education: strategies recommended by expectant and new parents. J Perinat Educ. 2008;17(4): 33–42.
- **13.** May C, Fletcher R. Preparing fathers for the transition to parenthood: recommendations for the content of antenatal education. Midwifery. 2013 May 1;29(5):474–8.
- **14.** Department of Health. Creating a better future together: national maternity strategy 2016- 2026. Dublin: Department of Health; 2016.
- **15.** HIQA. National standards for safer better maternity services. Dublin: HIQA; 2016.
- **16.** Department of Health. Healthy Ireland: a framework for improved health and wellbeing 2013- 2025. Dublin: Department of Health; 2013.
- 17. HSE. About: Making every contact count [Internet]. Dublin: HSE Health & Wellbeing; 2017 [updated 2017; cited 2017 Nov 1]. Available from: http://www.hse.ie/eng/about/Who/healthwellbeing/Making-Every-Contact- Count/About/About.html
- **18.** Department of Children & Youth Affairs. Better outcomes, brighter futures: the national policy framework for children & young people 2014 2020. Dublin: The Stationery Office; 2014.
- 19. HSE. National Healthy Childhood Programme [Internet]. Dublin: HSE Health & Wellbeing; 2017 [updated 2017; cited 2017 Nov 1]. Available from: http:/www.hse.ie/eng/about/Who/healthwellbeing/Our-Priority-Programmes/Child-Health- and-Wellbeing/NationalHealthyChildhoodProgramme/National-Healthy-Childhood-Programme.html

- **20.** RCPI. The impact of early childhood on future health. Dublin: RCPI; 2017.
- 21. HSE. The Nurture Programme [Internet]. Dublin: HSE Health & Wellbeing; 2017 [updated 2017; cited 2017 Nov 1]. Available from: https://www.hse.ie/eng/about/Who/healthwellbeing/Our- Priority-Programmes/Child-Health-and-Wellbeing/NurtureProgramme/The-Nurture- Programme.html
- **22.** Brixval CS. Antenatal education a systematic review and a randomised trial [dissertation]. [Denmark]: National Institute of Public Health, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Southern Denmark; 2016.
- **23.** Nolan ML. Information giving and education in pregnancy: a review of qualitative studies. J Perinat Educ. 2009;18(4):21–30.
- **24.** Murphy- Tighe S. Antenatal care preparation is everything. World of Irish Nursing. 2008;16(5):30-31.
- **25.** The National Women's Council of Ireland. Women's health in Ireland: meeting international standards. Dublin: The National Women's Council of Ireland; 2006.
- **26.** Keilthy P, McAvoy H, Keating T. Consultation on the development of a National Maternity Strategy. Dublin: Institute of Public Health in Ireland; 2015.
- **27.** Baron R, Manniën J, te Velde SJ, Klomp T, Hutton EK, Brug J. Sociodemographic inequalities across a range of health status indicators and health behaviours among pregnant women in prenatal primary care: a cross-sectional study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2015 Oct 13;15:261.
- **28.** Scott E, Woodman K. Antenatal Inequalities Rapid Review. Edinburgh: NHS Scotland; 2011.
- **29.** Murphy-Tighe S. An exploration of the attitudes of attenders and non-attenders towards antenatal education. Midwifery. 2010 Jun 1;26(3): 294–303.

- **30.** Entsieh AA, Hallström IK. First-time parents' prenatal needs for early parenthood preparation a systematic review and meta-synthesis of qualitative literature. Midwifery. 2016 Aug 1;39(Supplement C):1–11.
- **31.** Barlow J, Coe C, Underdown A, Redshaw M. Birth and beyond: stakeholder perceptions of current antenatal education provision in England. London: Department of Health; 2009.
- **32.** Department of Health. Birth and beyond: a review of the evidence about antenatal education.

  London: Department of Health; 2009.
- **33.** Deave T, Johnson D. The transition to parenthood: what does it mean for fathers? J Adv Nurs. 2008 Sep 1;63(6):626–33.
- **34.** Greene MJ. Strategies for incorporating cultural competence into childbirth education curriculum. J Perinat Educ. 2007;16(2):33–7.
- **35.** Ahldén I, Göransson A, Josefsson A, Alehagen S. Parenthood education in Swedish antenatal care: perceptions of midwives and obstetricians in charge. J Perinat Educ. 2008;17(2):21–7.
- **36.** Svensson J, Barclay L, Cooke M. Antenatal education as perceived by health professionals. J Perinat Educ. 2007;16(1):9–15.
- **37.** Steinbrook R. Imposing personal responsibility for health. N Engl J Med. 2006 Aug 24;355(8):753–6.
- **38.** Resnik DB. Responsibility for health: personal, social, and environmental. J Med Ethics. 2007 Aug;33(8):444–5.
- **39.** WHO. The Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion [Internet]. Geneva: WHO; undated [updated 2017; cited 2017 Jul 5]. Available from: http://www.who.int/healthpromotion/conferences/previous/ottawa/en/

- **40.** Svensson J, Barclay L, Cooke M. The concerns and interests of expectant and new parents: assessing learning needs. J Perinat Educ. 2006;15(4): 18–27.
- **41.** Wiener A, Rogers C. Antenatal classes: women can't think beyond labour. Br J Midwifery. 2008;16(2):121–4.
- **42.** Dochy F, Segers M, Van den Bossche P, Gijbels D. Effects of problem-based learning: a meta-analysis. Learn Instr. 2003 Oct 1;13(5):533–68.
- **43.** Lee WM, Wong FKY, Mok ESB. Problem-based learning: ancient Chinese educational philosophy reflected in a modern educational methodology. Nurse Educ Today. 2004 Feb;24(2):136–44.
- **44.** Kelly K. National Childbirth Trust: antenatal education in the 21st century. Midirs Midwifery Dig. 2011 Sep 1;21(3):319–23.
- **45.** Knowles MS, Holton EF, Swanson RA. The Adult Learner: The Definitive Classic in Adult Education and Human Resource Development. Seventh. New York: Routledge; 2012.
- **46.** Clarke M, Savage G, Smith V, Daly D, Devane D, Gross M et al. Improving the organisation of maternal health service delivery and optimising childbirth by increasing vaginal birth after caesarean section through enhanced womencentred care (OptiBIRTH trial): study protocol for a randomised controlled trial (ISRCTN10612254). Trials. 2015; 16:542.
- **47.** Cunningham FG, Bangdiwala S, Brown SS, Dean TM, Frederiksen M, Rowland Hogue CJ, et al. National Institutes of Health Consensus Development Conference Statement: Vaginal Birth After Cesarean: New Insights. March 8–10, 2010. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2010; 115(6):1279–1295.
- **48.** RCOG. Green top Guideline No. 45: Birth after previous Caesarean birth. London: RCOG; 2015.

- **49.** Nilsson C, Lundgren I, Smith V, Vehvilinen-Julkunen K, Nicoletti J, Devane D, Bernloehr A, van Limbeek E, Lalor J, Begley C. Women-centred interventions to increase vaginal birth after caesarean section (VBAC): a systematic review. Midwifery 2015; 31: 657–663.
- **50.** Horey D, Kealy M, Davey M-A, Small R, Crowther CA. Interventions for supporting pregnant women's decision-making about mode of birth after a caesarean. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013 Jul 30;(7):CD010041.
- **51.** Fraser W, Maunsell E, Hodnett E, Moutquin JM. Randomized controlled trial of a prenatal vaginal birth after cesarean section education and support program. Childbirth Alternatives Post-Cesarean Study Group. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1997 Feb;176(2):419–25.
- **52.** Godden B, Hauck Y, Hardwick T, Bayes S. Women's perceptions of contributory factors for successful vaginal birth after cesarean. Int J Childbirth. 2012 Jun 1;2(2):96–106.
- **53.** Nilsson C, van Limbeek E, Vehvilainen-Julkunen K, Lundgren I. Vaginal birth after cesarean: views of women from countries with high VBAC rates. Qual Health Res. 2017 Feb;27(3):325–
- **54.** Nilsson C, Lalor J, Begley C, Carroll M, Gross MM, Grylka-Baeschlin S, et al. Vaginal birth after caesarean: views of women from countries with low VBAC rates. Women Birth. 2017 Dec;30(6):481-490.
- 55. Clarke M, Savage G, Smith V, Daly D, Devane D, Gross MM, Grylka-Baeschlin S, Healy P, Morano S, Nicoletti J, Begley C. Improving the organisation of maternal health service delivery and optimising childbirth by increasing vaginal birth after caesarean section through enhanced women-centred care (OptiBIRTH trial): study protocol for a randomised controlled trial (ISRCTN10612254). Trials. 2015 Dec 1;16(1):542.
- 56. CORDIS. Final Report Summary OPTIBIRTH (Improving the organisation of maternal health service delivery, and optimising childbirth, by increasing vaginal birth after caesarean section (VBAC) through enhanced womencentred care) [Internet]. Dublin: CORDIS; 2017[updated 2017 July 25; cited 2017 Nov 8]. Available from: http://cordis.europa.eu/result/rcn/201548\_en.html

- **57.** Mills T, Ricklesford C, Cooke A, Heazell A, Whitworth M, Lavender T. Parents' experiences and expectations of care in pregnancy after stillbirth or neonatal death: a metasynthesis. BJOG Int J Obstet Gynaecol. 2014 Jul 1;121(8): 943–50.
- **58.** Wright PM. Childbirth education for parents experiencing pregnancy after perinatal loss. J Perinat Educ. 2005;14(4):9–15.
- **59.** Van P, Meleis Al. Coping with grief after involuntary pregnancy loss: perspectives of African American women. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs JOGNN. 2003 Feb;32(1):28–39.
- **60.** O'Leary J, Warland J, Parker L. Childbirth preparation for families pregnant after loss. Int J Childbirth Educ. 2012;27(2):44-50.
- **61.** Austin MP. Perinatal mental health: opportunities and challenges for psychiatry. Australas Psychiatry. 2003;11(4):399–403.
- **62.** RCOG. Maternal mental health women's voices. London: RCOG;2017.
- **63.** Higgins A, Carroll M, Gill A, Downes C, Monahan M. Perinatal mental health care: best practice principles for midwives, Public Health Nurses and Practice Nurses. Dublin: HSE; 2017.
- **64.** Higgins A, Carroll M, Gill A, Downes C, Monahan M, Madden D et al. Perinatal mental health: an exploration of practices, policies, processes and education needs of midwives and nurses within maternity and primary care services in Ireland. Dublin: HSE; 2017.
- **65.** Thompson S, Coughlan B, Doherty J, Cronin M, McCreery T, Brosnan M, Carroll L, ni Mhurichu A, Mason O, SHAN CL, O'Brien D. An evaluation of the labour hopscotch framework at the National Maternity Hospital. Dublin: National Maternity Hospital; 2019.

# **Appendix: Information on the structure of the Standards**

### A. Parents

- 1. Person-centred care and support this theme discusses the importance of placing pregnant women and their partners at the centre of the antenatal education service. It highlights the importance of a parent-led, responsive and participatory service that provides universal access and which is respectful of individuals' diverse learning needs and cultural backgrounds.
- 2. Effective care and support this theme discusses the importance of an evidence-based approach to the content and delivery of antenatal education services. The Standards describe the desirable knowledge and skills of antenatal education providers, while also identifying the need for a standardised curriculum and the need for an appropriate environment in which antenatal education can be delivered.
- 3. Safe care and support this theme identifies the measures that need to be in place in order to provide a high quality service that empowers pregnant women and their partners. It describes the importance of providing the most up-to-date and evidence-based information to pregnant women and their partners in a manner that is accessible and which meets the diverse needs of this population.
- 4. Better health and wellbeing this theme discusses the role of the antenatal education provider in promoting the health of pregnant women, their partners and their babies.

# B. Practice

**Note 1:** The decision was made to refer to 'pregnant women and their partners' throughout the Standards as a way of ensuring that the needs of both are considered and embedded in the antenatal education service. However, obviously, the circumstances of any pregnancy are unique to that pregnancy and the needs of all parents – including with or without partners; lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, or questioning (LGBTQ) or heterosexual; surrogate or adoptive – should be met by these Standards.

**Note 2:** Antenatal education services are delivered by a variety of providers in a variety of settings. These Standards do not seek to reduce the choice of provider that pregnant women and their partners have. They provide a framework for benchmarking and planning for improvement. The Standards in themes six and seven are not fully relevant to private providers as they are written, but it is suggested that they consider the governance, management and resourcing of the service they deliver in the context of the overall Standards to assure themselves that these providers are providing a safe, well-managed and resourced service for their clients.

5. Leadership, governance and management – this theme describes the need for transparent accountability arrangements within the services that provide antenatal education. The Standards discuss the importance of providing an accurate description of each antenatal education service, as well as ensuring that quality assurance methods are in place to ensure the provision of a high quality service that operates within national standards, guidelines and policies.

### C. Providers

6. Workforce – this theme highlights the importance of having a workforce of antenatal education providers who have the necessary knowledge and skills to deliver antenatal education in line with best practice.

# **D.Resources**

- 7. Use of resources this theme discusses the effective and efficient use of resources that support the provision of a high quality antenatal education service.
- 8. Use of information this theme discusses the active use of data to support the provision of a parent-led, responsive antenatal education service. It also outlines the need for formal training and arrangements to ensure that antenatal education providers fulfil their statutory role in information governance.

